# An Ultrafast Glimpse of Cluster Solvation Effects on Reaction Dynamics

Q. Zhong<sup>†</sup> and A. W. Castleman, Jr.\*

Departments of Chemistry and Physics, The Pennsylvania State University, University Park, Pennsylvania 16802

Received March 6, 2000

## **Contents**

1.	Introduction	4039	
2. Cluster Types and Production			
3. Experimental Methods Using Laser Spectroscopy			
4.	Ionization Processes in Clusters	4042	
	A. The Formation of Protonated Ammonia Clusters: A Paradigm	4042	
	B. The Phenomenon of Coulomb Explosion	4042	
	a. Quantifying Coulomb Explosion	4043	
	b. Direct Evidence for the Role of Clusters in the Coulomb Explosion Process	4045	
	c. Consideration of Models of Coulomb Explosion	4046	
	d. Ionization Dynamics and Coulomb Explosion: Chemical Applications	4048	
5.	Cluster Solvation Effect on Reaction Dynamics	4048	
	A. Excited-State Proton Transfer	4049	
	B. Electron-Transfer Reactions	4051	
	C. Caging Dynamics	4053	
6.	Outlook	4054	
7.	Acknowledgment	4055	
8.	References	4055	

#### 1. Introduction

Determining the influence that solvation has on the dynamics of chemical reactions<sup>1-8</sup> is one of the scientifically challenging problems in the field of chemical physics. There is particular interest in contrasting differences in the behavior and reactivity of ions as well as neutral species in the gaseous compared to the condensed phase, and studies of clusters at selectively increased degrees of aggregation offer the opportunity to explore the changes due to solvation. In this context, studies of selected chromophores excited within clusters, or cluster ions produced via selected ionization, and of the "ensuing solvation" that takes place within a cluster shed light on the understanding of excitation processes in the bulk condensed state. $^{9-25}$  In terms of basic knowledge, the results of studies of the interaction of ions and molecules provide information on the forces involved and gas-phase studies of interactions within a cluster can contribute to knowledge about the structure and bonding of complexes having analogies to those existing in solutions.



Qun Zhong received her elemental education while growing up in Xi'an, China. She earned her B.S. degree in Applied Chemistry from Peking University and her M.S. degree in Structural Chemistry from the Institute of Physics, Chinese Academy of Science. She went to Penn State University, where she received her Ph.D. in 1999 for work on reaction dynamics of clusters with Professor Castleman. Qun is currently an Alexander von Humboldt postdoctoral fellow in the lab of Professor Martin Wolf in Fritz-Haber-Institut der MPG in Berlin, Germany.



A. Welford Castleman, Jr. is holder of the Eberly Distinguished Chair of Science and Evan Pugh Professor, Departments of Chemistry and Physics at the Pennsylvania State University. He received his undergraduate degree at R.P.I and his Ph.D. degree at the Polytechnic Institute of Brooklyn (now the Polytechnic University). He has been a group leader at the Brookhaven National Laboratory and on the faculty of the University of Colorado, Boulder. He served as a Senior Editor of the *Journal of Physical Chemistry* for 10 years and serves on the Editorial Board of a number of other scientific journals. He is a member of the National Academy of Sciences and the American Academy of Arts and Sciences. He has had a long-standing interest in the properties and dynamics of clusters and cluster ions, with application to understanding the molecular details of solvation phenomena and the behavior of matter of nanoscale dimensions.

Cluster science has undergone an explosive growth in activity during the past few years, prompted both

<sup>\*</sup> To whom correspondence should be addressed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup> Present address: <sup>^</sup> Fritz-Haber Institut der MPG, Faradayweg 4-6, 14195 Berlin, Germany.

by the large number of basic problems to which studies of clusters may provide new insight as well as the vast array of applied areas to which clusters relate. Elucidating from a molecular point of view the differences and similarities in the properties and reactivity of matter in the gaseous compared to the condensed state has been an overriding theme of many of the investigations, with both experimental and theoretical attention being directed to studies of structure, thermochemical properties, reactivity, and dynamics.

In addition to their application in elucidating the molecular details of condensed matter, studies of clusters also serve to reveal the microscopic aspects of nucleation phenomena, including the formation of highly dispersed media having a large surface-tovolume ratio, e.g., aerocolloids, ultrafine particles, and nanoscale materials. Investigation of thermochemical properties as well as the kinetics of association reactions has been particularly important in the subject of phase transitions, where progress has been impeded by lack of fundamental data for comparison with molecular theories. Related both to studies of condensed phases as well as surfaces are investigations involving the scattering of high-energy neutrals and ionic particles from surfaces, where clusters (usually in ionic form) are often the observed reaction products. Determining factors that influence their size, stability, and mechanisms of formation provide a basis for explaining the results of such experiments.

Ionization accompanied by subsequent mass-spectrometric detection has usually been the most widely used technique to quantify the size-dependent properties of large clusters. However, the ionization step ultimately involves a relaxation about the newly formed charge, with concomitant evaporative dissociation and sometimes other chemical reactions taking place. In addition to providing details on the energetics of interactions, studies of cluster ions yield information on basic mechanisms of ion reactions within the cluster (termed an intracluster reaction, sometimes distinguished as an ion-molecule halfreaction). The entire course of a chemical reaction following either a photophysical or ionizing event depends on the mechanisms of energy transfer and dissipation away from the primary site of absorption. Neighboring solvent or solute molecules can influence this by collisional deactivation (removal of energy), through effects in which dissociating molecules are kept in relatively close proximity for comparatively long periods of time due to the presence of the solvent and in other ways where the solvent influences the energetics of the reaction coordinate. Through the use of supersonic molecular beams, it is now possible to produce and tailor the composition of virtually any system of interest. Utilizing these methods, coupled with laser spectroscopy, one can selectively solvate a given chromophore (site of photon absorption/site of ionization) and investigate changes between the gas and condensed phase by selectively shifting the degree of solvent aggregation, i.e., the number and location of solvent molecules attached to or bound about the site of absorption of the electromagnetic radiation.

This review deals largely with work involving neutral van der Waals/hydrogen-bonded clusters. It attempts to show the readers some of the recent developments in the field and the breadth of the scientific questions which are being addressed through investigations of the kinetics and dynamics of reactions mediated through the presence of bound solvent molecules. In addition to the prospects of investigating new fundamental phenomena through their study, extensive work on clusters has been motivated by the promise of providing insights into the possibility of using clusters as building blocks for assembling new nanoscale materials. To bring these prospects to fruition entails detailed investigations of their unique physical and chemical behavior. The processes of interest occur on very short time scales and require special techniques for direct observation. Herein we consider the important subject of the reaction dynamics of clusters, also with particular consideration to a unique phenomenon termed "Coulomb explosion" which we have found can be enhanced in the case of irradiating clusters with femtosecond light pulses of moderately high fluence.

#### 2. Cluster Types and Production

One of the exciting aspects of cluster research stems from the fact that these small aggregates have properties that often differ significantly from those of the bulk and typically display behavior that is not fully characterized as being due to a solid, liquid, or gas. Indeed, clusters are often referred to as a new state of matter. Because of their small size, a large fraction of their constituents lie on their surface and they frequently give rise to quantum effects that involve the energy levels imposed by size-dependent constraints. The field has developed along several lines including extensive efforts devoted to carbon clusters, metal and semiconductor systems, rare- gas and related van der Waals systems, as well as those composed of hydrogen-bonded molecules.<sup>7</sup> The latter are of primary value in elucidating the important process of proton transfer that pervades so many fields.

Molecular clusters constitute an aggregated state of matter in which the individual constituents are held together by forces that are relatively weak compared to those responsible for the chemical bonding of the constituent molecules. Hence, by necessity, neutral clusters are usually formed by utilizing supersonic expansion techniques, which facilitate cooling and concomitant association steps leading to their growth. Supersonic expansion techniques including both continuous sources as well as pulsed jets are commonly used to produce beams of neutral clusters. In both cases, cooling of the beam is accomplished through the conversion of the random thermal energy of a high-pressure source gas into a directed beam velocity.<sup>26</sup> The latent heat of condensation released during the clustering process leads to internal vibrational and rotational heating of the aggregate, and clusters often do not attain internal temperatures as low as unclustered species. However, cooling collisions with an inert gas serve to reduce the internal temperature of the cluster and enable clusters to be produced that have sufficiently long lifetimes to be interrogated in an experiment. The production of clusters of mixed composition enhances the range of systems that can be investigated, and coexpansion and pick-up source techniques have been widely developed which now enable species of virtually any composition to be prepared for investigation.

Supersonic expansion, now a comparatively mature technique, has benefited from advances provided by pulsing techniques. This not only has the advantage of requiring less extensive differential large-system pumping capacity, but has served to reduce concomitant experimental problems which may arise from unwanted collision-induced dissociation in the region where the clustered species are probed either spectroscopically and/or mass spectrometrically.

Electrospray techniques have been successfully utilized in some cases to produce ionic clusters containing more than one charge on a solvated metal cation.<sup>27</sup> This is a comparatively new development and promises to enable investigation of species that could not be heretofore explored in terms of microsolvation effects. Related thermal vaporization methods have been employed to produce clusters of neutral species from liquids.<sup>28</sup> Cluster ions also have been produced by fast atom and ion bombardment on surfaces. Particularly interesting are the developments of Michl and co-workers<sup>29</sup> in which clusters are formed by sputtering rare-gas matrixes in which various atoms and/or molecules have been trapped. The sputtering of ice surfaces has also been a promising technique to produce protonated water clusters, enabling determination of various properties.

There have been a number of modeling studies to account for the nature of cluster distributions that develop. In some cases this has been accomplished through estimates of the rate constants of the individual association reaction steps which are generally difficult to measure. The development of scaling laws has been a particularly valuable contribution to this problem, enabling a reasonable selection of the appropriate experimental conditions to produce clusters of the desired size range for study.<sup>30</sup> The resulting neutral clusters have been successfully probed using a variety of techniques, where noninvasive spectroscopic probing sometimes has provided valuable insight into the developing cluster structures.<sup>31–38</sup>

In the case of metal and semiconductor clusters, the technique of laser vaporization has been especially valuable as a method for cluster production. However, condensation sources<sup>39–41</sup> have been found to be very valuable methods in the case of more volatile systems, especially in forming large alkali metal clusters.

# 3. Experimental Methods Using Laser Spectroscopy

Not surprisingly, as in many other areas of physical chemistry, advances in experimental techniques have paved the way for new investigations into the dynamics and reactivity of molecular clusters. Through the use of lasers, studies of cluster photodepletion and photodissociation are being undertaken.<sup>42–48</sup>

Concomitant investigations of cluster unimolecular and collision-induced dissociation are further contributing to an understanding of dynamical processes involved in energy transfer and reactivity.<sup>49–53</sup> Additionally, ab initio calculations are contributing significantly to an understanding of the structure and bonding of both strongly and weakly bound clusters.

The study of neutral cluster spectroscopy and dynamics has depended in large measure on inferences reached from investigations of cluster metastability in products of dissociation. Cluster ion-dip spectroscopy, with size selection obtained through mass detection, has allowed for a comparison study of cluster size-dependent structures and spectroscopic transitions in the ground electronic state.<sup>54,55</sup> Rotational coherence spectroscopy, through monitoring the quantum interference of different rotational levels in time domain, has provided useful information on cluster structure.<sup>56–58</sup>

With recent advances in generating laser pulses of subpicosecond duration, a fascinating new field, femtochemistry, was born, which was pioneered by the Zewail group,<sup>59</sup> and many breakthroughs in this emerging field have already been witnessed over the past decade.<sup>60</sup> As we know, nuclear motion is the fundamental motion that characterizes chemical bonding and determines reaction dynamics at the molecular level. Time scales for nuclear motion are typically subpicoseconds for vibration and subnanoseconds for rotation. Now with the time resolution and coherence provided by femtosecond laser pulses, real-time observation of chemical reactions as they proceed along the reaction path from reactants, via transition state, toward products is made possible by employing femtosecond pump-probe techniques. In the case of neutral molecules, fluorescence spectroscopic methods have been invaluable in monitoring the course of events following their optical excitation.<sup>61</sup> However, the vast majority of the spectroscopically related cluster work is accomplished using clusters formed via supersonic expansion and detected using time-of-flight mass spectrometry techniques (TOFMS).<sup>62</sup> Improvements in fast timing electronic circuitry and the incorporation of reflection electric fields (reflectron)63 have enabled high mass resolution to be attained, on the one hand, or with an alternate mode of operation direct information on kinetic energy release following metastable cluster dissociation.

In cases where clusters are subjected to intense laser fields, a detailed study of the ensuing ionization processes reveals the role of clusters in facilitating the tunneling and barrier suppression phenomena which are responsible for the generation of high charge states of ions that often arise. The Coulomb explosion phenomenon enables intermediates to be arrested at various stages of transformation in selected classes of fast reactions. In conjunction with optical responses from femtosecond laser pump– probe experiments, we have developed a method whereby the Coulomb explosion process enables the dynamical events of competitive reactive processes to be elucidated.

#### 4. Ionization Processes in Clusters

## A. The Formation of Protonated Ammonia Clusters: A Paradigm

The use of femtosecond pump-probe techniques enables the identification of the detailed mechanisms of reactions at the molecular level and also to follow the course of a reaction in real time. The study of ammonia clusters has provided an example of what can be accomplished using these methods.

The ionization of ammonia clusters (i.e., multiphoton ionization,<sup>53,64</sup> single photon ionization,<sup>65–67</sup> electron impact ionization,<sup>68</sup> etc.) mainly leads to formation of protonated clusters. For some years there had been a debate about the mechanism of formation of protonated clusters under resonance-enhanced multiphoton ionization conditions, especially regarding the possible alternative sequences of absorption, dissociation, and ionization. Two alternative mechanisms<sup>69–75</sup> have been proposed: one proceeds through an absorption–dissociation–ionization mechanism (ADI) and the other via an absorption–ionization– dissociation process (AID).

For the AID mechanism, intracluster ion-molecule reactions of ammonia clusters occur following photoionization

$$(\mathrm{NH}_3)_n \xrightarrow{h\nu_1} (\mathrm{NH}_3)_n^* \xrightarrow{h\nu_2} (\mathrm{NH}_3)_n^+ \longrightarrow (\mathrm{NH}_3)_{n-1} \mathrm{H}^+ + \mathrm{NH}_2$$

An alternative mechanism referred to as ADI considers that the neutral clusters are first excited via photoabsorption processes. Subsequent intracluster neutral–neutral reactions lead to formation of hydrogenated clusters,  $(NH_3)_nH$ , and ionization of the radical species results in the observed protonated cluster ions as depicted in the following

$$(\mathrm{NH}_3)_n \xrightarrow{h\nu_1} (\mathrm{NH}_3)_n^* \to (\mathrm{NH}_3)_{n-1}\mathrm{H} + \mathrm{NH}_2 \xrightarrow{h\nu_2} (\mathrm{NH}_3)_{n-1}\mathrm{H}^+ + \mathrm{NH}_2$$

The fact that protonated clusters are observed to be formed under electron impact ionization as well as under single-photon ionization conditions provides evidence that the AID mechanism must be operative at least to some extent. The ADI mechanism was initially proposed on the basis of theoretical calculations by Kassab and co-workers<sup>76</sup> and supported by experimental finding that hydrogenated ammonia clusters do have lifetimes of at least a few microseconds following neutralization of the protonated cluster ions as shown by Gellene and Porter.77 Nanosecond pump-probe experiments carried out by Misaizu et al.<sup>69,70</sup> show that the lifetime of the intermediate to the formation of  $(NH_3)_n H^+$  (n > 1) is at least 500 times longer than that to the formation of  $NH_4^+$  and  $(NH_3)_2^+$ . However, due to the broad nanosecond laser pulses employed in the experiments, the issue of ionization and formation mechanisms of protonated ammonia cluster ions has not been resolved until a recent series of femtosecond



**Figure 1.** Pump-probe spectrum of  $(NH_3)_n H^+$  (n = 2,5) excited to the  $\tilde{A}$  (v = 2) state with pump pulses at 208 nm and probe pulses at 312 nm.

pump-probe experiments by Castleman and coworkers $^{71-75}$  and in what follows.

Pump-probe studies on the Rydberg  $\tilde{\mathbf{C}}'$  state of  $(\mathrm{NH}_3)_n$  clusters revealed that the optical transients for all ions, i.e., protonated and unprotonated, at least for n < 5, are identical. This suggests that the intermediate state leading to the formation of both the unprotonated and protonated clusters is the same. The failure to observe any ionization attributable to that of  $\mathrm{NH}_4$  incorporated in the cluster via the predissociation of  $\mathrm{NH}_3$  to  $\mathrm{NH}_2$  and H, and subsequent reaction of H with  $\mathrm{NH}_3$ , eliminates the ADI path as the major mechanism for photoionization of ammonia clusters via the  $\tilde{\mathbf{C}}'$ state.

Pump-probe experiments on the ionization of the  $(NH_3)_n$  clusters via Rydberg Å state show different mechanism from that via the  $\tilde{C}'$  state. Results indicate that the neutral clusters excited to the A state can undergo intracluster reactions commencing with predissociation of the excited ammonia moiety, which leads to the formation of (NH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>n-2</sub>·NH<sub>4</sub>. Subsequently, ionization of either  $(NH_3)_n^*$  or  $(NH_3)_{n-2}$ ·NH<sub>4</sub> leads to formation of protonated cluster ions. The formation of long-lived (NH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>n-2</sub>·NH<sub>4</sub><sup>77</sup> is in accordance with the findings of nonzero ion intensity values at long pump-probe delays observed in the data (see Figure 1). There is an overall dependence observed for the decaying signal intensity on the vibrational levels, which indicates the influence of the energetics on the predissociation and reaction forming NH<sub>4</sub>, while the trend in the long-time tail reflects effects due to solvation and retainment of NH<sub>4</sub>. It is evident that the A state competes between both the AID and ADI mechanisms. The AID, which is the dominant process, is seen when the pump and probe pulses are overlapped (t = 0), while the ADI occurs when the probe photon is absorbed at long time delays.

#### B. The Phenomenon of Coulomb Explosion

Most attention paid to the dynamics of clusters and cluster ions has involved ionization to a singly charged state, such as the example of the formation of protonated ammonia clusters mentioned in the preceding section. However, another class of reactions has been observed when clusters become multiply charged, which can result in fission and Coulomb explosion processes.<sup>78–85</sup> Ionization involving multiple electron loss is not new, having been first observed in various systems ionized via electron impact techniques. In most of these experiments, clusters containing one, two, or three charge centers were produced but only being observable in systems which remained metastable. The metastability arose only in systems of sufficient size that the charge centers could separate by a large enough distance to reduce the Coulomb repulsion to a magnitude that did not exceed the cohesive binding energy of the cluster. Early examples include clusters composed of CO<sub>2</sub>,<sup>78</sup> various metal atoms such as those of the alkali metals,79 hydrogen-bonded systems such as water and ammonia clusters,<sup>80-82</sup> and rare-gas clusters.<sup>83,84</sup> Below a critical cluster size, fission leads to the loss of the multiple charges from a cluster and hence to the production of a singly charged species. Metastable evaporation of the solvating molecules can take the stable cluster to degrees of aggregation below critical size and subsequently lead to fission.

In practice, Coulomb explosion results when multiply charged clusters are suddenly generated in systems smaller than the critical size required for metastability. However, in general it has been difficult to investigate the process due to its fleeting nature. Recent observations<sup>73,86–94</sup> have shed considerable light on our understanding of this phenomenon, with new findings coming from investigations of the interaction of intense laser field with atoms,<sup>86–89</sup> molecules,<sup>90</sup> and clusters.<sup>91–94</sup> Specifically, during the course of experiments to study reaction dynamics within clusters, Castleman and co-workers observed an unexpected phenomenon in which femtosecond laser pulses instantaneously created clusters with a high charge state at surprisingly low fluxes of light, enabling a new and detailed look at the actual Coulomb explosion process. We first observed this with clusters of ammonia;<sup>91</sup> results we reported were at just about the same time as work on high charge states of xenon reported by Rhodes and co-workers.<sup>94</sup> With the use of high-flux femtosecond laser pulses, the very short burst of light leads to the delivery of many photons to the cluster that can almost instantaneously lead to the loss of many electrons. These initially ionized free electrons can further ionize the inner-shell electrons of the atomic constituents of the cluster via intracluster inelastic electron-atom collisions. The resulting ions with core-electron vacancies can then decay by X-ray emission, as observed by Rhodes et. al. when rare-gas clusters<sup>94</sup> are irradiated by subpicosecond lasers with powers of  $\geq 2 \times$ 10<sup>16</sup> W/cm<sup>2</sup>. See Figure 2. During the photon absorption and subsequent ionization processes, there is little time for nuclear motion, the highly charged atomic ions of the cluster are formed in very close proximity, and the system thereafter rapidly explodes due to the Coulomb repulsion from like charges, releasing atomic ions with high kinetic energies,<sup>91</sup> see Figure 3. As discussed below, the exact mechanisms leading to the phenomenon are a subject of intense current interest among theoreticians as well as experimentalists.



Figure 2. Figure 1 from Boyer, K.; Thompson, B. D.; McPherson, A.; Rhodes, C. K. *J. Phys. B: At. Mol. Opt. Phys.* **1994**, *27*, 4373. (Reprinted with permission from ref 94d. Copyright 1994 IOP Publishing Ltd., Bristol.)



Figure 3. Time-of-flight mass spectrum of multicharged nitrogen atoms resulting from the interaction of intense laser field (wavelength at and power  $\sim 10^{15}$  W/cm<sup>2</sup>) with ammonia clusters.

#### a. Quantifying Coulomb Explosion

The consequences of like-charge repulsion in clusters has been known for some years, but the fingerprint left by the process was not very detailed. Until recently, most observations of Coulomb phenomena in clusters were confined to the appearance of intact multiply charged clusters that were large enough to retain the presence of more than one charge center and hence could be detected with a mass spectrometer. The implementation of various ionization methods, including the use of lasers along with welldesigned mass spectrometers, sometimes enabled the observation of a stability change induced by the laser heating of stable clusters, effecting evaporation and hence a reduction in size to clusters which then would undergo a fission-like disassembly.



Figure 4. Schematic of the reflectron time-of-flight mass spectrometer.

A time-of-flight mass spectrometer (TOFMS) is especially useful in studying the process. Clusters which Coulomb explode give off highly charged atomic ions uniformly in all directions, and the essence of the value of the TOFMS in these experiments is the fact that a separation occurs in the flight times of the Coulomb-exploded species with the same mass and charge which are ejected to different directions initially. This is due to the experimental arrangement used whereby the particles initially moving away from the detector are electrically reflected to it and hence arrive later than those ejected directly toward the detector during the explosion event. The difference in arrival time is a measure of the repulsion at the moment of Coulomb explosion and can be used to calculate the kinetic energy associated with the explosive event; alternatively, the reflectron which we have incorporated in our TOF system can also yield information on kinetic-energy release through determinations of cutoff potentials for which species with high kinetics are not reflected to a detector. See Figure 4 for a schematic of a reflectron time-of-flight mass spectrometer.

Particularly interesting findings first came in our laboratory from studies of molecular clusters,<sup>91</sup> like (NH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>*n*</sub>, (HI)<sub>*n*</sub>, X<sub>*n*</sub> (X = Ar, Kr, Xe), and (CH<sub>3</sub>COCH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>*n*</sub>, etc. In the case of (HI)<sub>*n*</sub> clusters, when irradiated with a femtosecond laser at 624 nm and a power of  $\sim 1 \times 10^{15}$  W/cm<sup>2</sup>, prominent peaks corresponding to multicharged I<sup>*n*+</sup> ions were observed, with *n* = 17 being clearly discernible.<sup>91b</sup> As seen in Figure 5, a broad peak is found for the multicharged fragments having an early arrival time, followed by a sharp peak arising from space focusing for those species corresponding to a later time of arrival. Using the peak splittings from this spectrum, the kinetic energies (KE) are calculated using the following equation

$$KE = q^2 (\Delta U/d)^2 \cdot \Delta t^2 / (8m)$$

where  $\Delta t$  is the peak splitting, *m* is the mass of the ion,  $(\Delta U/d)$  is the field gradient, *q* is the charge. The kinetic energy measured by the peak splitting, along with those determined from the voltage cutoffs, are generally found to be in good agreement. The high values of several hundred to several thousand electronvolts which we have measured cannot arise from



**Figure 5.** Coulomb explosion processes arising from interaction of HI clusters with intense laser field. Note the formation of high charge states of iodine, i.e., extending at least to n = +17.

the Coulomb explosion of HI monomer because they would involve unknowable small internuclear distances between  $H^+$  and  $I^{n+}$ . This finding indicates that the large kinetic energies observed in the study result from the Coulomb explosion of HI clusters, a conclusion born out by the covariance studies and other more direct experiments discussed in part b of this section.

While hot ions with kiloelectronvolt energies can be released from the interaction of small clusters



**Figure 6.** Pump-probe transients of multicharged oxygen ions,  $O^{n+}$   $(1 \le n \le 5)$ , formed through the Coulomb explosion of acetone monomer and acetone clusters.

 $(\sim 10^2)$  with moderate laser field  $(\sim 10^{15}$  W/cm<sup>2</sup>), ions with energies up to 1 MeV are observed when significant larger clusters, for example, Xe<sub>n</sub> (n  $\sim$  2500), are irradiated with stronger laser pulses ( $\sim 2 \times 10^{16}$  W/cm<sup>2</sup>).<sup>92</sup> The high kinetic energy released during the Coulomb explosion process provides an opportunity to realize substantial nuclear fusion reaction. Indeed, Ditmire et al.<sup>92</sup> observed the D + D  $\rightarrow$  He<sup>3</sup> + n fusion reaction when high-energy deuterium ions (greater than kiloelectronvolts) are created by the interaction of intense laser field ( $\sim 2 \times 10^{16}$  W/cm<sup>2</sup>) with deuterium clusters. An efficiency of about 10<sup>5</sup> fusion neutrons per joule of incident laser energy was obtained, which approaches the efficiency in large- scale laser-driven fusion experiments.

Another aspect of the Coulomb explosion process has been learned from the study of acetone clusters<sup>91c</sup> where highly charged carbon and oxygen atoms were found to be produced. A unique feature of the work performed on this system was the utilization of pump-probe techniques in the ionization process as a test of theoretical predictions of the possible mechanisms involved. In this case, the pump laser at 624 nm has a power density of  $\sim 3 \times 10^{14}$  W/cm<sup>2</sup>, and the probe laser also at 624 nm was slightly (~10%) weaker. The pump-probe transients of the oxygen fragments ( $O^{n+}$ ,  $1 \le n \le 5$ ) are shown in Figure 6. There are several significant features that should be noted. A large dip is observed in the O<sup>+</sup> transient at zero delay, and a peak begins to grow in for each subsequently higher charged species. For the higher charged species ( $O^{n+}$ ,  $2 \le n \le 5$ ), the ion signal drops to a local minimum and then returns to a local maximum at some pump-probe delay. At longer

delay times, the  $O^{n+}$ ,  $3 \le n \le 5$ , show clear signs of a "beating" pattern. The unequal intensities of the maxima at positive and negative delay times can be attributed to the unequal pump and probe intensities, but significantly, the maxima in  $O^+$  and  $O^{5+}$  occur at positive delay times, whereas the maxima in  $O^{2+}$ ,  $O^{3+}$ , and  $O^{4+}$  occur at negative delay times.  $C^{n+}$  ( $1 \le n \le 4$ ) observed in the experiment was found to behave in a similar fashion.

The maxima and minima do not occur at the same delay times for different  $O^{n+}$  species, and in all of the pump-probe scans, the transients displayed similar structure. Obviously, the observed beating pattern could not arise from the phasing of the pump and probe optical fields since the period of the laser is about 2 fs. The power of either pump or probe beam is sufficient to multiply ionize the acetone clusters, and it is unlikely that the cluster can stabilize the large amount of potential energy of multiple positive charges within the cluster. Furthermore, there does not appear to be any periodicity in the transients. As the cluster undergoes electron loss, the probe beam arrives at the cluster at some later time. Depending on the time delay of the probe beam, the interatomic spacings have increased to a particular distance as a result of the nuclear motion arising from the Coulomb explosion process. The structure seen for the transients in Figure 6 is due to the varying ionization rates as the interatomic spacing is increased, as predicted by Bandrauk,95-101 Corkum,<sup>102–104</sup> Jortner,<sup>105,106</sup> and co-workers. As the interatomic spacings are varied, the wave function and electron localization is changed, resulting in different ionization rates for the various charge states. In their model, the ionization rate is predicted to be a highly irregular function of interatomic distance. This would result in the observed maxima and minima observed in the transients.

#### b. Direct Evidence for the Role of Clusters in the Coulomb Explosion Process

Several different types of experiments have provided definitive evidence for the role of clusters in effecting the facile formation of highly charged species at modest laser fluences. The first conclusive evidence was obtained from experiments employing a covariance analysis approach.<sup>86c,107</sup> Probing various cluster distributions in a pulsed molecular beam and correlating the findings of high charge state formation with cluster size through covariance methods has served to further elucidate the mechanisms responsible for the generation of multiply ionized constituents.

In most photoionization TOF mass-spectroscopic studies, advantage is taken of the fact that the ion intensities produce average intensity values which can be analyzed and interpreted. However, deviations in the ion intensity do occur because of slight fluctuations in the laser or the molecular beam source. The technique of covariance mapping takes advantage of these fluctuations and compares the changes in one measurement with respect to another, thus providing a measure of the connectiveness between two different events. Covariance is a measure of the deviation in the measurement of two functions,  $X_i(x)$  and  $Y_i(y)$ , which depend on the independent variables x and y. In this application, the functions  $X_i(x)$  and  $Y_i(y)$  represent the ion intensities and the independent variables, x and y, represent the time-of-flights of the ions.

$$C(x,y) = \langle (X - \langle X \rangle)(Y - \langle Y \rangle) \rangle$$
  
=  $\langle XY \rangle - \langle X \rangle \langle Y \rangle$   
=  $\frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} X_i(x) \cdot Y_i(y) - \left[\frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} X_i(x)\right] \left[\frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} Y_i(y)\right]$ 

The correlation coefficient,  $\rho(x, y)$  is another closely related term to the covariance; it is a normalized quantitative measure of the correlation of events revealed through the time-of-flight of each ion. It is defined as

$$\rho(x,y) = \frac{C(x,y)}{\sqrt{C(x,x) \cdot C(y,y)}}$$

where  $|\rho(x, y)| \leq 1$ .

If  $\rho(x,y)$  equals 1, 0, or -1, the ion signals of X(x) and Y(y) are perfectly correlated, not correlated, or anticorrelated, respectively.<sup>104</sup>

Covariance analysis of the Coulomb explosion process of ammonia clusters induced by the intense laser field shows that there is an intense anticovariance between the higher mass clusters and the highly charged Coulomb-exploded nitrogen ions, as seen in Figure 7. This indicates that the production of the highly charged nitrogen ions are formed at the expense of the higher mass ammonia clusters. This result provides strong evidence that the appearance of highly charged Coulomb-exploded species indeed originate from clusters.

Despite the very strong evidence from these observations, more direct proof was sought. This was acquired in a series of experiments conducted in a manner which focused on the composition of the molecular beam which produced the most intense highly charged species at a given laser fluence.<sup>93</sup> The experiments were made by crossing the laser with the molecular beam at selected delay intervals where clusters or monomers were the major species present. One experiment involved fixing the focal position and changing the delay of the pulse nozzle relative to the laser pulse. This experiment enables scanning of the entire neutral cluster and unclustered molecule packet. Several different factors were examined: charge-state distribution, kinetic-energy release, and integrated signal intensity as a function of the delay between the laser and pulsed valve. All three exhibited the same trend, namely, showing that the highcharged species were only present, and with high kinetic energy release, when clusters dominated the beam. Essentially no highly charged species were observed when monomer alone was present, see Figure 8.

#### c. Consideration of Models of Coulomb Explosion

Two general theoretical models proposed to explain the high charge states observed are the coherent electron motion model (CEMM<sup>94</sup>) and the ionization ignition model (IIM<sup>109</sup>). In CEMM, the multiple electron ejection is envisioned to arise from the coherent motion of the field-ionized electrons; subsequent removal of electrons is considered to occur in a manner similar to electron impact ionization. In the IIM, after the initial ionization events, the parent ion cores are considered to be inertially confined to the cluster, leaving the ion field unscreened. This results in a very large (>1012 V/m) and inhomogeneous electric field. This large field lowers the ionization barrier and enables subsequent ionization events to occur, which in turn further increases the field and lowers the ionization barrier. Both propose that barrier suppression and concomitant electron tunneling facilitate the phenomenon.

In their CEMM, Rhodes and co-workers proposed<sup>94</sup> an expression to approximate the number of ionization events

$$N_x \simeq n^{4/3} Z_{r_0^2}^{\frac{\sigma_{\rm ei}}{r_0^2}} \qquad (n \ge 3)$$

where *n* is the number of atoms in the cluster, *Z* is the resultant ionic charge,  $\sigma_{ei}$  is the inelastic electron impact ionization cross section, and  $r_0$  is the interatomic spacing. Furthermore, the coherent electrons behave as quasi-particle of mass  $Zm_e$  and charge Ze, requiring modification of the electron impact cross section to the form  $\sigma_{ei} \rightarrow Z\sigma_{ei}$ .

In the IIM,<sup>109</sup> the strong field due to the unshielded ion cores in a cluster are responsible for the high charge states obtained, rather than the large electron density. It was concluded that removal of the outer electrons is not expected to be very sensitive to pulse width, cluster size, or atomic weight. Related quantum mechanical calculations<sup>98</sup> done earlier in studies of multielectron ionization of small molecules show that the rate of ionization is highly dependent upon the internuclear distance, in a nonmonotonic fashion. Additionally, it has been shown<sup>103</sup> that the dependence on internuclear separation is due to the role of electron localization in intense field ionization. Such effects are considered in a related dynamical model referred to as charge resonance enhanced ionization (CREI)95-106 which would be expected to give rise to an irregular rate of ionization pattern, consistent with observations in acetone clusters studied via pump-probe femtosecond spectroscopy. In this model, electron excitation which becomes in sync with excursions of the nuclei, assists the ionization process.

As the various models predict, multicharged species are not observed to any significant extent unless clusters are present in our molecular beam. The charge states obtained are reasonable in considering both the CEMM and IIM.

Multicharged species abruptly appear in the mass spectra as a certain minimum critical cluster size is obtained, but the charge distribution does not vary with further variation in the cluster distribution.



**Figure 7.** Anticovariance map of ammonia clusters under photoionization at 624 nm, laser pulse width of 120 fs, and a fluence of  $\sim 10^{15}$  W/cm<sup>2</sup>. The abscissa and ordinate display a TOF spectrum of ammonia clusters averaged over 10 000 single-shot spectra. The center of the figure displays the calculated anticovariance map as described in the text.

Moreover, under modest ionization conditions, multicharged krypton and argon atoms are only observed when a trace amount of HI is present,<sup>91a</sup> although pure xenon, ammonia, and acetone clusters are multiply ionized. The fact that neat Kr (IP = 14.00 eV) and Ar (IP = 15.76 eV) clusters do not exhibit multiple ionization, whereas neat Xe (IP = 12.13 eV), HI (IP = 10.39 eV), NH<sub>3</sub> (IP = 10.18 eV), and (CH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>-CO (IP = 9.71 eV) clusters do, suggests that the ability to multiply ionize atoms is less sensitive to atomic number and depends more upon the threshold for single ionization.

In the CREI model, the ionization rate is predicted to be a highly irregular function of interatomic distance, in contrast to the CEMM which predicts a monotonic decrease in the degree of ionization with an increase in interatomic distance (see  $r_0$  in the above equation). Studies on large clusters have been reported which do provide evidence of the operation of CEMM in systems where the wavelength of the optical radiation is comparable to the size of the particles, but this is not the size regime under consideration here.

In conclusion, most studies demonstrate that the high charge states obtained when van der Waals and hydrogen-bonded clusters are irradiated with intense laser fields are well described by the IIM. The lack of dependence on the degree of clustering or atomic weight and the strong dependence on ionization potential and interatomic (or intermolecular) dis-



**Figure 8.** Summary of the nozzle/laser delay experiments. The delay time corresponds to the time between when the pulse nozzle opens and the laser fires. (A) Note the monomer of  $CH_3I$  is most intense at the wings of the gas pulse, while the clusters are primarily concentrated at the center of the gas pulse. (B) Note that the high charge state species arise at the center of the gas pulse where the clusters are located.

tances support this conclusion. Present results cannot totally eliminate the possibility of coherent electron motions, but under experimental conditions in which only small clusters are present, it is not a major contribution to the multicharging and subsequent Coulomb explosion of clusters. Clearly, however, the IIM warrants refinement via more elaborate classical and quantum mechanical calculations.

# *d. Ionization Dynamics and Coulomb Explosion: Chemical Applications*

Among the fastest processes of chemical interest are those involving charged species, with the transfer of electrons generally occurring on the shortest of time scales and those involving other ionic constituents being close behind. One particularly important example germane to the present subject is an interaction process involving ionized atoms or molecules. As discussed in detail in the preceding section, due to their electrical charge, ionized particles sense each other over comparatively long distances and accordingly their interactions are generally strong and often give rise to the Coulomb explosion phenomenon which takes place on a very short time scale. If a collection of like charges is suddenly produced in close proximity, the repelling between them is so rapid that it occurs as a nearly explosive event, hence the term Coulomb explosion.

Clusters have a propensity to undergo such processes when exposed to high-intensity light fields

available from pulsed lasers of short duration. We have found that this phenomenon can be taken advantage of to gain information on the time evolution of intermediates produced in chemical reactions occurring within clusters, as we consider further.<sup>110,111</sup> Calculations<sup>112</sup> place the approximate separation times in the neighborhood of 25 fs, so that little further transfer of heavy atoms occurs after the ionization event. Hence, by initiating a reaction with one laser pulse and then initiating the Coulomb explosion with another, the intermediates present at selected reaction time intervals can be interrogated. This has been successfully accomplished in the case of 7-azaindole dimer, as described in detail in the next section. Related methods of studying kinetic energy release have been recently employed<sup>102</sup> in a study of the potential-energy surface for the  $I^+-I^+$ system, and we may expect to see similar applications in the cluster field.

#### 5. Cluster Solvation Effect on Reaction Dynamics

There are several ways in which solvation effects influence reactivity.<sup>8,20,22</sup> These include (1) solvation effects on the nature of the excited reaction sites, (2) solvation effects on exothermicity (or exoergicity), (3) site-specific solvation blocking, (4) solvation influences on the energy barrier to reaction, and (5) effects due to caging.

The study of cluster dynamics by employing timeresolved spectroscopy is a comparatively new subject of inquiry. Its potential has been brought to fruition due to recent developments in picosecond and especially femtosecond laser pump-probe techniques.<sup>113,114</sup> Due to the limited length of the paper, here we only focus on a small portion of current research interests, namely, excited-state proton transfer (ESPT<sup>115,116</sup>), excited-state electron transfer (charge transfer), and caging dynamics.

#### A. Excited-State Proton Transfer

Many molecules exhibit pH changes upon photoexcitation, as in the case of aromatic alcohols, due to the fact that these molecules have electronic state dependent heats of deprotonation. For example, the  $pK_a$  of 1-naphthol in its ground electronic state is 9.4 and decreases to 0.5 when excited to its S1 state.<sup>117</sup> The large drop in the  $pK_a$  makes it possible to photoinduce a proton transfer from the solute molecule to the solvent, which could be initially forbidden in the electronic ground state. The application of femtosecond pump-probe techniques have allowed this excited-state proton-transfer process to be studied and the reaction rate measured in various systems in different environments, e.g., solutions,<sup>117-120</sup> solid matrixes,<sup>121,122</sup> and also small clusters.<sup>115,116,123-127</sup>

In the cluster studies, there are a few common observations: first, the ESPT rate displays a strong dependence on cluster size and solvent structure. For example, in the case of the phenol molecule, 115, 123, 125 when ammonia is used as the solvent,  $C_6H_5OH$ .  $(NH_3)_n$ , the proton transfer  $k^{-1}$  is measured to be 5 ns for n = 4 but increases dramatically to 55 ps at n= 5. The dramatic rate change at n = 5 is a clear onset for the ESPT reaction. Due to the large energy needed to free a proton from the solute, the protontransferred ion-pair state is unstable compared to the covalent structure. Solvation of the proton with a high proton affinity solvent enhances the stability of the ion-pair state significantly. The larger the solvent clusters, the larger the gained stability. For solvents with higher proton affinities than ammonia, like trimethylamine, C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>5</sub>OH·[N(CH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>3</sub>]<sub>n</sub>, the ESPT onset is observed at smaller cluster size, n = 3. In the case of the 1-naphthol molecule, which is more acidic ( $pK_a$ = 0.5) in the S1 state than phenol ( $pK_a = 4.1$ ), the onset of ESPT should appear at smaller cluster sizes; as observed in the  $1-NpOH \cdot (NH_3)_n$  clusters, <sup>124,126</sup> the onset is at n = 3, while for 1-NpOH·(C<sub>5</sub>H<sub>11</sub>N)<sub>n</sub>, the onset is at n = 5. For a less basic solvent such as water, experiments show that ESPT occurs with a minimum of hundreds of water molecules and the reaction rate is in the nanosecond regime.<sup>127</sup> In the experiments involving mixed solvents, the introduction of different solvent molecules can cause changes in the hydrogen-bonding network structure in the ion-pair state, thus affecting the proton-transfer process dramatically. For example, the ESPT of photoexcited C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>5</sub>OH·(NH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>5</sub> occurs within 55 ps, whereas when one methanol molecule is added to the clusters, the proton transfer  $k^{-1}$  increases to 750 ps.

Second, ESPT displays a strong isotope effect. When hydrogen atoms in  $C_6H_5OH \cdot (NH_3)_5$  are replaced by deuterium to give  $C_6H_5OD \cdot (ND_3)_5$ , the proton transfer  $k^{-1}$  slows from 55 ps to 1.5 ns<sup>125</sup> while the ESPT for 1-NpOH·(NH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub> and 1-NpOD·(ND<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub> are 52 and 150 ps, respectively.<sup>126</sup> The large isotope effect observed support a tunneling mechanism. The tunneling barrier is formed by the avoided curve-crossing of the covalent  $RO-H \cdot B_n$  potential with the solventstabilized Coulombic-type ion-pair  $RO^{-} \cdots H^{+}B_{n}$  potential. Experimental evidence of the existence of this barrier is the observation of the slow proton-transfer rate observed even in highly acidic 1-naphthol with high proton affinity solvents, like ammonia and trimethylamine. Solvent type, structure, and cluster size all affect the potential-energy surfaces and thus the barrier shape, influencing the proton-transfer rate profoundly.

Third, ESPT displays biexponential decay characteristics. In the case of 1-NpOH·(NH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>5</sub>, the transient has a distinct double-exponential decay, with a fast component of 25 ps and a slow component of 226 ps. Similar behavior was also observed in the C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>5</sub>OH· (NH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>n</sub> system.<sup>128</sup> The observed fast component is attributed to the proton-transfer process, while the slow component is interpreted to be due to the solvent reorganization following proton transfer.<sup>125,126</sup> Solvent reorganization involves the rearrangement of the hydrogen-bonded network following the protontransfer reaction, leading to a more stable ion-pair structure. The process can be described by the following

$$\operatorname{ROH} \cdot \operatorname{B}_{n} \xrightarrow{h_{\nu}} \operatorname{ROH}^{*} \cdot \operatorname{B}_{n} \xrightarrow{k_{1}} \operatorname{RO}^{*-} \cdots \operatorname{H}^{+} \operatorname{B}_{n}^{*} \xrightarrow{k_{2}} \operatorname{RO}^{*-} \cdots \operatorname{H}^{+} \operatorname{B}_{n}$$

with  $k_1$  being the proton-transfer rate and  $k_2$  the solvent reorganization rate.  $k_2$  is found to be dependent on cluster size and vibrational excitation and also shows an isotope effect.<sup>126</sup>

ESPT has also been studied extensively in ammonia clusters as well. Ammonia clusters are used as a prototypical hydrogen-bonded system because the ammonia and ammonia clusters have been extensively studied;<sup>72,74,85,129–135</sup> thus their structures, potential-energy surfaces, and reaction dynamics are well understood. Among these studies, of particular interest is the time-resolved reaction dynamics on the Rydberg state of ammonia clusters.<sup>75</sup> In this experiment, a pump pulse at 312 nm (two-photon absorption) is used to excite the ammonia clusters to the state and a probe pulse at 624 nm is used to monitor the reaction dynamics by ionizing the clusters. The ions are detected in a reflectron time-of-flight mass spectrometer. Experimentally obtained lifetimes of ammonia clusters are found to be more than one magnitude shorter than the ammonia monomer, which is the opposite of the solvation effect observed on the A state, in which clustering prohibits predissociation, thus prolonging the Å state lifetime.<sup>72,135</sup> Dissociation of ammonia on the Rydberg state occurs through coupling to the lower lying Å state, followed by subsequent predissociation. For ammonia clusters, two possible reaction channels open up, namely,

proton transfer and hydrogen-atom transfer. Proton transfer occurs when the photoexcited ammonia chromophore donates a proton to a solvating ammonia, while hydrogen-atom transfer occurs when the excited ammonia chromophore accepts a hydrogen atom from a solvating ammonia. These two reaction channels lead to a population loss from the initial excited Rydberg state and agree with the experimentally observed biexponential decay dynamics for the clusters.<sup>75</sup> Both reaction pathways display a cluster-size effect. Smaller solvation effects are observed for proton-transfer processes. The proton transfer  $k^{-1}$  for  $(NH_3)_n$  increases from 85 fs for n = 3to 135 fs for n = 40. Hydrogen-atom transfer processes show a stronger dependence on the degree of clustering. Hydrogen-atom transfer rates increase from 300 fs for (NH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>3</sub> to 1500 fs for (NH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>40</sub>. Similar effects are found for the deuterated systems. As with all studies of solvation effects in clusters, there are two competing factors that may affect the reaction dynamics: the ability of the solvent to relax the vibrational and rotational excitation and the solvation stabilization effect on potential-energy surfaces. When ammonia is excited from the ground X state to the state, the out of plane "umbrella" bend is highly excited. The "umbrella" vibration moves along the hydrogen-atom transfer coordinate; therefore, excitation of the umbrella mode would enhance the hydrogen-atom transfer rate. As the cluster size increases, the energy relaxation in this umbrella mode become faster; thus, the lifetime increases, as observed in the hydrogen-atom transfer reaction.<sup>75</sup> Since the protontransfer reaction coordinate lies perpendicular to the umbrella vibration, it shows a smaller dependence upon clustering. Related excited-state hydrogen-atom transfer in the ammonia dimer on the Rydberg Å state<sup>136</sup> has also been observed by Hertel's group using the combined femtosecond pump-probe technique and photoelectron-photoion coincidence spectroscopy.137

Regarding the ESPT reaction, another particularly interesting system is the 7-azaindole dimer, which has become a model for understanding base pairs such as DNA. In our lab, we have been able to study the excited-state double proton transfer (ESDPT) of the 7-azaindole dimer under conditions ranging from an isolated dimer up to a state of solvation where the hydrogen-bonded dimer is solvated with as many as nine water molecules. As the number of water molecules on the nonreactive dimer increases, we begin to see evidence that the dimer molecule is behaving more as it would in a fully solvated condensed-phase environment.

In the dimer state, particular interest has arisen in the double proton transfer that the 7-azaindole dimer undergoes upon excitation to the S<sub>1</sub> state. This excited-state double proton transfer was first observed by Kasha et al. in solution,<sup>138</sup> and numerous studies have been undertaken since then by various researchers. The system attracted the attention of Kaya and co-workers, who have performed extensive supersonic jet spectroscopic studies on the 7-azaindole monomer, dimer, and solvated forms of these species.<sup>139–142</sup> Subsequent dynamical investigations



**Figure 9.** Ratio of mass 119 to mass 118 throughout a typical pump-probe experiment, with the pump laser at 312 nm and the probe at 624 nm. The circles represent experimental data. The solid line represents a fit of the data as described in the text. Time constants of around 660 fs and 5 ps were obtained for the first and second proton transfer, respectively.

have been undertaken in both the gas<sup>111,143</sup> and condensed phases,<sup>144,145</sup> leading to a determination of the rate of the excited-state double proton transfer using ultrafast spectroscopic techniques. A major disagreement developed in the literature regarding whether the tautomerization proceeded through a stepwise or concerted process. Gas-phase experiments<sup>111,143</sup> generally supported a stepwise transfer of protons, while condensed-phase studies made in the presence of a nonpolar liquid were consistent with a suggested one-step mechanism occurring on the order of 1.1–1.4 picoseconds.<sup>144–146</sup>

Zewail and co-workers initially reported gas-phase measurements of a two-step process for the ESDPT in the 7-azaindole dimer, yielding times of 650 fs and 3.3 ps for the first and second proton transfer times, respectively.<sup>143</sup> Later, work in our group arrived at similar conclusions by utilizing a Coulomb explosion technique that arrests intermediates in the transfer process. These new experiments provided definitive evidence that a reaction intermediate exists as suggested by Zewail,<sup>111</sup> confirming a two-step process for the tautomerization of the isolated dimer. The Coulomb explosion method enables the formation of the intermediate to be clearly resolved in the mass spectrum at selected time delays. The stepwise double proton transfer for 7-azaindole dimer can be seen to vary in time with respect to delay between the initiating pump laser and the intense probe laser that serves to instantaneously explode the reactant complex; refer to Figure 9 which shows the variation with time of the 119 and 118 amu species. It is evident that the rise and fall of the 119 amu species with respect to the 118 amu species represents the formation of an intermediate species and subsequent tautomer formation as observed by Coulomb explosion generated mass fragments. Calculations suggest that separation times during such a Coulomb explosion event occur on the order of 25 fs, thus making this method a useful technique for interrogating ultrafast reactions.<sup>112</sup> The protonated 7-azaindole monomer arising from the Coulomb explosion event (mass 119 amu) can only be attributed to a stepwise process with a minimal contribution from isotopic distributions.

During studies of the 7-azaindole dimer, Kaya and co-workers made observations that led them to suggest the possible existence of two isomers of this species, depending upon the stagnation pressure employed in the supersonic expansion.<sup>140</sup> The reactivity of the isomers was found to be dramatically different: one being reactive and the other being nonreactive. The reactive dimer appeared to undergo a normal double proton transfer, whereas the nonreactive dimer did not. Studies by several research groups led to varying explanations for the observed differences, most pointing to the likelihood that geometrically different isomers were responsible for the reported observations.

Some suggestions<sup>142</sup> were made that the attachment of a weakly bonded water molecule might influence the photoexcitation process, thereby accounting for the nonreactive species. However, our experimental results on the water- solvated dimer indicate that the presence of a water molecule is not responsible for the formation of the nonreactive dimer. In fact, our studies show that the presence of a water molecule clustered with the nonreactive dimer actually facilitates proton transfer.

While only the reactive dimer is seen at low backing pressures and the nonreactive dimer at high pressures, both can be observed at certain intermediate pressures. As expected, the reactive dimer and the nonreactive dimer were observed to exhibit very different pump-probe spectra. The transient of the reactive dimer was found to be best fit with a biexponential function having time constants nearly identical to those obtained by Zewail.<sup>143</sup> The transient of the nonreactive dimer on the other hand showed a long-lived decay with respect to the reactive dimer, which indicated that the double proton transfer had not occurred. The fact that both species are present under the same experimental conditions points toward the original suggestion<sup>140</sup> of different structural isomers being responsible for the different reactive nature of the two experimental situations. This observation leads to the conclusion that the temperature of the molecular beam is responsible for the formation of different isomers rather than a water molecule being responsible for the change in the excited-state double proton-transfer behavior.

To further prove this point, we subsequently investigated hydrated 7-azaindole to examine whether water molecules incorporated with the dimer would promote the formation of a nonreactive dimer. Species composed of  $(7-\text{Aza})_2(\text{H}_2\text{O})_n$ , where n = 1-9, were investigated with pump-probe techniques. Again, both reactive and nonreactive dimer species could be produced in conjunction with higher order clusters exhibiting varying degrees of solvation. As mentioned above, species are considered reactive if they exhibit a fast decay in their pump-probe trace which can be fit best using a biexponential function, while species are considered nonreactive if their pump-probe transients show a long-lived lifetime with respect to the reactive dimer.



**Figure 10.** Pump-probe transient of the reactive dimer with one water clustered to it. The pump laser is at 310 nm and the probe at 620 nm. The transient clearly shows that the presence of a water molecule does not inhibit the proton transfer from occurring.

Figure 10 shows data for the case where water molecules were attached to a species corresponding to a reactive dimer, obtained at intermediate backing pressure. If a water molecule was responsible for the formation of the nonreactive dimer, then the species (7-Aza)<sub>2</sub>H<sub>2</sub>O should show a long-lived transient, which is not observed. The findings conclusively establish that double proton transfer also occurs for the monohydrated dimer species. An even more interesting case is seen in Figure 11, where it is seen that solvation of the nonreactive dimer enables it to undergo double proton transfer. Transfer times correspond to 450 fs for the first transfer and about 2.8 ps for the second. As seen from data in Table 1, subsequent hydration has little effect on the transfer times until a change occurs at four waters, and a single transfer step is seen for additional degrees of hydration. This suggests that the double proton transfer is undergoing a transition from a two-step process to a one-step concerted mechanism. It is possible that a change in behavior is being caused through progressive clustering, but alternatively, the proton may become transferred to the waters upon exciting species having higher degrees of solvation. This could be explained by conformational structure changes occurring at the onset of a critical number of water molecules. This consideration would be in accord with suggestions<sup>147</sup> that a change from a hydrogen-bonded dimer to a stacked dimer occurs once enough water molecules become associated with the complex. Further experiments are required to elucidate this unexpected behavior.

#### **B. Electron-Transfer Reactions**

Electron-transfer reactions are among the most ubiquitous and elementary of all chemical processes, with wide ranging implications through many areas of chemistry, physics, and biology.<sup>148–150</sup> Photoinduced electron-transfer reactions play a major role in triggering numerous types of chemical and biological processes, and there is a continued and growing interest in determining the molecular-scale details of the initial electron-transfer step. Because electrontransfer processes in natural environments are quite



**Figure 11.** (A) Pump-probe transient of the nonreactive dimer at 1200 Torr. It can be seen from the lack of a fast decay that proton transfer is not occurring in this species. (B) Pump-probe transient of the nonreactive dimer with one water clustered to it. It can be seen here that an attached water molecule actually facilitates the occurrence of the proton transfer in an otherwise nonreactive species. (C) Pump-probe transient of the nonreactive dimer with two waters clustered to it. The second step of the proton transfer can be seen to occur even more quickly with two waters present.

 Table 1. Proton-Transfer Times for the Solvated

 7-Azaindole Dimers<sup>a</sup>

no. of waters	first transfer, fs	second transfer, fs	transfer time, fs
1	$550 \pm 100$	2800	
2	$565\pm100$	2000	
3	$560\pm100$	2000	
4			
5			1800
6			1600
7			1300
8			1100
9			1000

<sup>*a*</sup> Note that no definite values of lifetimes could be deduced from the data obtained for n = 4, a fact attributed to a change in cluster structure at this degree of hydration.

complex, researchers are seeking ways to study the fundamental aspects of these phenomena in simplified model systems using well-characterized optical pulses.

The ease of which iodine accepts an electron from donor molecules, when photoexcited, has made iodine the ideal electron-acceptor molecule for studying the electron-transfer process. When Benesi and Hilde-



**Figure 12.** Figure 1 from Zhong, D.; Zewail, A. H. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **1999**, *96*, 2602. (Reprinted with permission from ref 154. Copyright 1999 The Academy, Washington, DC.)

brand<sup>151</sup> first dissolved iodine and benzene in *n*-heptane, a new absorption band in the ultraviolet range was observed. Mulliken<sup>152</sup> postulated that this absorption band corresponds to an electronic transition from the highest occupied molecular orbital of benzene to the lowest unoccupied molecular orbital of iodine. Since these initial observations, extensive research efforts have been devoted to the study of the electron-transfer process involving the iodine molecular complexes,<sup>153,154</sup> cluster solvation systems,<sup>155–157</sup> rare-gas matrixes,<sup>158</sup> and also liquid solutions.<sup>159–163</sup>

The unique ability to probe the electron-transfer process and the concomitant reaction dynamics through the use of ultrafast laser pump-probe spectroscopy, in which the electron-transfer process is initiated by a femtosecond pulse and the reaction progress is followed with a femtosecond probe pulse, has been demonstrated by Zewail and co-workers.154-156 In their studies of electron-transfer reactions in isolated bimolecular complexes or clusters, a femtosecond laser pulse is used to photoinduce the electron transfer from a donor molecule to an iodine molecule, and the subsequent reaction dynamics are followed by monitoring the iodine fragments released from the reaction with a probe pulse, using angular and velocity resolved kinetic-energy time-of-flight mass spectrometry.

Experimental results<sup>154,156,158</sup> on various  $D \cdot I_2$  (D represents donor molecule like benzene (Bz), diethyl sulfide, or dioxane) systems indicate that the electrontransfer process and the subsequent reactions follow a common mechanism, though there is a strong correlation between the structure of the complex and the observed dynamics. The vertical excitation by a femtosecond pump pulse launches the  $D \cdot I_2$  complex to its ionic potential-energy surface (the so-called charge transfer state). This ionic potential-energy surface is bound in nature and crosses the repulsive covalent potential-energy surface. An avoided crossing of these two potential-energy surfaces forms an upper quasibound potential well and a lower potential well with a barrier at the crossing, as sketched in Figure 12. This kind of ionic-covalent potential-

energy curve crossing is present in many systems. A simple example of this is the case of NaI in which the ground-state ionic curve crosses the covalent curve of the first excited state. The resulting electronic structure along the reaction coordinate of the upper quasibound potential well formed from the avoided crossing of these two states changes from being covalent at short nuclear distances to being ionic at longer distances. When the ground-state NaI molecule is excited with a femtosecond laser pulse to its first excited state, the wave packet, initially prepared on the repulsive covalent potential, propagates within the quasibound well.<sup>164</sup> As the wave packet propagates, the bonding in the NaI molecule oscillates between covalent and ionic character, with an electron being shuttled back and forth from the sodium to the iodine. In the case of the  $Bz \cdot I_2$  complex, following photoexcitation to the charge transfer state, Bz<sup>+</sup>I<sup>-</sup>···I propagates along the ionic curve toward the hybrid region of covalent and ionic potentials. At the crossing barrier, an electron from I<sup>-</sup> reversibly transfers to the benzene molecule, leaving the I–I bond on its dissociative potential, resulting in the release of an iodine fragment with high translational energy within 450 fs. The other "caged" iodine atom relaxes its energy via collision with the benzene molecule and is released within 1.4 ps with a much lower translational energy compared to the first iodine fragment.<sup>172</sup> Experiments involving different donor molecules such as *o*-xylene, acetone, dioxane, and diethyl sulfide, etc., show that the escape time of the second iodine atom from the single-molecule cage increases when the binding energy of the D–I complex becomes stronger.<sup>154,155</sup>

Even though size selection in neutral clusters is still an experimental challenge, investigations of electron-transfer reactions under different clustering conditions show clearly that the reaction dynamics have a strong dependence on the degree of solvation.<sup>154,156</sup> In the  $(Bz)_n I_2$  cluster system, experimental results as well as molecular dynamics simulations and ab initio calculations show that<sup>158</sup> the benzene molecules tend to cluster around themselves rather than to the iodine molecule; therefore, the iodine protrudes out of the benzene cluster. Following photoexcitation to the charge-transfer state, the cluster moves along the ionic curve toward the ioniccovalent crossing, resulting in an I–I bond rupture. When the I–I bond is broken, the iodine atom that is sticking out of the benzene cluster leaves rapidly, dragging some of the benzene molecules with it. The free iodine fragment was detected within a few picoseconds. The other iodine atom is caged in the remaining benzene cluster, and its escape time from the cluster cage depends on the vibrational energy of the cluster and thus occurs on a much longer time scale, more than a few tens of picoseconds. The dissociation time scales of both steps increase with increasing degree of solvation.

# C. Caging Dynamics

Most chemical reactions occur not in isolated but in complex environments. Even weakly bound solvents can perturb reactions significantly. Solvents can affect the elementary bond-forming and -breaking processes through either enhancing bond formation by encaging reactive species on the reaction time scale or removing the excitation energy of reactants through collisional cooling. To study solvation effects on chemical reactions, cluster methods have taken an important role<sup>7,165–167</sup> due to the fact that clusters can provide a well-characterized solvation environment on a molecular scale. A wealth of information on solvation effects on reaction dynamics have been obtained via studies of the iodine molecule, which has been investigated in various environments, e.g., clusters, liquid solutions, and solid matrixes, by different research groups employing several different experimental techniques.

An important early experiment on caging dynamics was carried out by Valentini and Cross,168 who observed a single-atom caging in the  $I_2$ . Ar complex upon photodissociation of the I<sub>2</sub> molecule. Zewail's group applied a femtosecond spectroscopic technique to study the dissociation and recombination dynamics of the iodine molecule in large argon clusters<sup>169–171</sup> as well as in a high-pressure rare-gas cell,<sup>172</sup> in which the gas pressure was varied from essentially ideal gas to that of liquid-like fluid region. Complimentary molecular dynamics simulations<sup>173</sup> were also performed to aid in interpreting the data. In the experiments involving  $I_2 \cdot Ar_n$  clusters,<sup>169–171</sup> first a femtosecond pump pulse was used to excite the iodine molecules either to the dissociative A state or to the bound B state, and the subsequent dynamics were interrogated by a second femtosecond probe pulse. The signal was detected by laser-induced-fluorescence (LIF). The results show that the mechanism of recombination depends critically on the dissociation dynamics. When the isolated iodine molecule is excited onto the dissociative A state, direct dissociation occurs within 300 fs. The excitation energy is released as the translational energy of the free iodine fragments.

When  $I_2$  is encaged in large Ar clusters, the photodissociated iodine fragments can collide with the solvent cage, relieving its excitation energy. The iodine can coherently recombine onto either the A/A' state or the ground X state within 600 fs after dissociation; subsequent vibrational relaxation would follow. The coherent caging dynamics are found to be dependent on the dissociation time scale, the energy exchange between iodine fragments and cluster cage, and also the collective solvent properties such as geometry and temperature. For example, this coherent dissociation followed by coherent recombination has also been observed in solid rare-gas matrix experiments,174-176 whereas in high-pressure gas and liquid solutions at room temperature, due to the lack of collective binding forces, the coherent recombination was not observed.<sup>169</sup>

Dissociation and recombination dynamics of an iodine molecule excited to the bound B state are somewhat different. Photoexcitation of isolated iodine molecules to below the dissociation continuum of the B state will not result in dissociation. Predissociation occurs through solvent-induced curve crossing to the lower lying A/A' state or the ground X state, followed by subsequent vibrational relaxation. The predissociation rate of the B state is solvent dependent and occurs on a much longer time scale when compared to the A state dissociation. Energy transfer from the photoexcited iodine molecule to the cluster cage tends to loosen up the solvent cage during the predissociation, and therefore, the iodine fragments are able to break through the cage and separate far from each other upon dissociation; subsequent recombination occurs through diffusion of the separated iodine fragments. Due to the finite size of the  $Ar_n$  clusters, the diffusion of I fragments is confined by the cluster boundary, and therefore, a narrow distribution of recombination rates is observed, compared to highpressure gas and liquid solution experiments.

Photoinduced reactions and subsequent caging dynamics in methyl iodide clusters is another interesting example.<sup>177,178</sup> Solvation effects on the electronic states of methyl iodide dimers<sup>179</sup> and clusters<sup>180,181</sup> have been extensively studied. Evidence from changes in line shapes suggest that the ground state of the methyl iodide is lowered in energy by about 500 cm<sup>-1</sup> upon dimerization and is lowered up to 1000 cm<sup>-1</sup> in larger clusters. For excitations from the ground state into the Rydberg B and C states, no spectral shifts can be observed, indicating that these excited states are stabilized in the same way as the ground state. However, the repulsive A state is only stabilized by  $\sim 10 \text{ cm}^{-1}$  upon clustering. This was suggested to be due to the different strengths of the dipole-dipole interactions of the Rydberg states and the valence states with the solvent shell.<sup>180</sup> Because the Rydberg states and the repulsive A state do not undergo the same amount of energy shift, the coupling between the A state and the Rydberg states is altered. Therefore, the lifetimes of the Rydberg states change upon solvation, as observed experimentally on the 10s Rydberg states in our lab.<sup>177</sup> Methyl iodide clusters excited to the 10s Rydberg state dissociate within 200 fs through two competing processes: curve crossing to the repulsive A state and internal conversion to the dissociation continuum of the 6s Rydberg state. Due to the caging effect on cluster solvation, some of the dissociating CH<sub>3</sub> radicals and I atoms dissipate their excitation energies through collisions with the cluster cage and are able to recombine onto the 6*s* Rydberg state or the lower lying ground X state. Recombination onto the 6s Rydberg state occurs on the time scale of picoseconds.177

Picosecond time-resolved experiments<sup>116</sup> on methyl iodide clusters by Syage et al. showed a series of rapid reactions occurring upon photoexcitation to the repulsive A state, resulting in the production of  $C_2H_6$ and  $I_2$  molecules. Interestingly,  $C_2H_6$  was found to evaporate extensively from the clusters after formation, whereas all of the  $I_2$  was caged. Reactions between the photoexcited chromophore and loosely bound solvating molecule have also been observed in femtosecond time-resolved experiments on the methyl iodide dimer by Zewail and co-workers.<sup>178</sup> In this experiment, pump pulse at 277 nm is used to dissociate the methyl iodide molecule and the reaction of the iodine photofragment with the solvating methyl iodide is monitored with a probe pulse at 304 nm by 2+1 REMPI method with a kinetic energy TOF spectrometer. Velocity gating provided the ability for the separation of fast and slow kinetic-energy components of the I<sup>+</sup> ions formed. Pump-probe transients of the slow I<sup>+</sup> ion showed an interesting delayed rise behavior. The time delay was found to be 1.4 ps and the rise time 1.7 ps. The delay of 1.4 ps was interpreted to be due to the formation of the transition-state complex  $CH_3I_2^*$ , whereas the rise time of 1.7 ps is a measure of the lifetime of the transition-state complex  $CH_3I_2^*$ .

Time-resolved studies on ionic clusters are also providing insight into the dynamics of photodissociation and caging phenomenon, especially regarding the size-dependent dynamics. Unlike studies involving neutral clusters in which size selection is still an experimental challenge, there is generally no ambiguity concerning the solvent size for clusters with an ionic chromophore, which is an important factor for size-specific investigations. Particularly valuable information regarding ion solvation has been obtained through investigations of the halide dimer anions such as  $I_2^-$ , ICl<sup>-</sup> solvated with  $Ar_n^{182}$  (OCS)<sub>n</sub><sup>183</sup> and (CO<sub>2</sub>)<sub>n</sub><sup>184–186</sup> clusters. Pump–probe experiments reveal phenomenon having picosecond dynamical events. The caging fraction or quantum yield for formation of the photofragment ions depends strongly on cluster ion size, ranging from zero for small clusters to unity for those of large size. Studies of iodine and bromine anions<sup>187</sup> show that the branching ratio for recombination depends on both the size of the initial cluster and the photodissociation wavelength. The data have shown that the recombination mechanism is dominated by attractive forces in smaller clusters and repulsive interactions in larger ones.

Study of the dynamics of metal clusters employing femtosecond spectroscopic methods has been pursued in depth by several groups, most notably Gerber and co-workers<sup>188</sup> and Wöste and co-workers.<sup>167,189</sup> A great understanding of ultrafast wave packet dynamics on excited electronic states, size-dependent photodissociation, structural relaxation, and also wave packet dynamics on electronic ground state through NeNePo experiments<sup>189,190</sup> in particular has been obtained through investigations of small isolated metal clusters. The general subject is beyond the general theme of the present article, where the focus is on van der Waals and hydrogen-bonded systems, and since it has been recently covered in depth by other reviews.<sup>167,189–191</sup> we do not treat it here.

#### 6. Outlook

Since the advent of femtosecond laser technology, many breakthroughs in the emerging new field, femtochemistry,<sup>59</sup> have been witnessed over the past decade. The findings discussed in this review are further testimony to the wide-ranging processes that can be explored within the domain of femtochemistry.

Herein, we have demonstrated that clusters exposed to intense laser fields can Coulomb explode giving rise to particles with high-charged states and surprisingly large values of kinetic-energy release. Beyond the interest in the Coulomb explosion phe-

nomenon is the interesting new technique that has emerged from applications that in favorable cases enable intermediates in fast reactions to be arrested and investigated as they undergo transformation from reactants to products. These various findings clearly demonstrate the power of time-resolved spectroscopy in unraveling the dynamics of clusters, and we can expect to observe increasing activity in this field of endeavor. With the development of tabletop solid-state Ti:sapphire lasers, the generation of ultrashort pulses has become relatively simple, allowing the laser experts, as well as nonexperts, to enter this fascinating new field, and many more exciting discoveries are yet to come.

#### 7. Acknowledgment

Financial support by the Atmospheric Sciences Division of the National Science Foundation (Grant No. ATM-9321660), the Division of Chemical Sciences, Office of Basic Energy Sciences, Office of Energy Research of the Department of Energy (Grant No.DE-FGO2-93ER61602), and the Air Force Office of Scientific Research (Grant No. F49620-94-0162) and an Air Force ASSERT Grant (No. F49620-95-1-0353) is gratefully acknowledged. Q. Zhong also acknowledges the Alexander von Humboldt Foundation for a postdoctoral fellowship.

#### 8. References

- (1) Castleman, A. W., Jr.; Keesee, R. G. Chem. Rev. 1986, 86, 589.
- (2) Castleman, A. W., Jr.; Keesee, R. G. Science 1988, 241, 36.
- (3) Miller, R. E. Acc. Chem. Res. 1990, 23, 10.
- Clusters of Atoms and Molecules; Haberland, H., Ed.; Springer-(4)Verlag: Berlin, Heidelberg, 1994.
- (5)Reaction Dynamics in Clusters and Condensed Phases; Jortner, J., Levine, R. D., Pullman, B., Eds.; Kluwer Academic: Dordrecht, Holland, 1994.
- (6) Bernstein, E. R. Annu. Rev. Phys. Chem. 1995, 46, 197.
- Castleman, A. W., Jr.; Bowen, K. H., Jr. J. Phys. Chem. 1996, (7)100. 12911.
- Castleman, A. W., Jr. In Advances in Gas-Phase Ion Chemistry, Babcock, L. M., Adams, N. G, Eds.; JAI Press: Stamford, CT, 1998; Vol. 3, pp 185.
- (9) Large Finite Systems; Jortner, J., Pullman, A., Pullman, B., Eds.; Reidel Pub. Co.: Boston, 1987; Vol. 20.
  (10) Physics and Chemistry of Small Clusters; Jena, P., Rao, B. K.,
- Khanna, S. N., Eds.; NATO ASI Series B: Physics, Plenum: New York, 1987; Vol. 158.
- (11) Elemental and Molecular Clusters; Benedek, G., Martin, T. P., Pacchioni, G., Eds.; Springer-Verlag: New York, 1988.
- (12) Schuster, P.; Wolschann, P.; Tortschanoff, K. In Chemical Relaxation in Molecular Biology, Pecht, I., Rigler, R., Eds.; Springer-Verlag: New York, 1977; p 107.
- (13)Castleman, A. W., Jr.; Märk, T. D. Adv. At. Mol. Phys. 1984, 20, 65.
- (14) Castleman, A. W., Jr.; Märk, T. D. In Gaseous Ion Chemistry Mass Spectrometry; John Wiley and Sons: New York, 1986; Chapter 12, p 259.
- (15) Physics and Chemistry of Small Clusters; Jena, P., Rao, B. K., Khanna, S. N., Eds.; NATO ASI Series B: Physics, Plenum: New York, 1987; Vol. 158.
- (16) Elemental and Molecular Clusters in Materials Science; Benedik, G., Martin, T. P., Pacchioni, G., Eds.; Springer-Verlag: Berlin, 1987; Vol. 6.
- (17) The Structure of Small Molecules and Ions; Naaman, R., Vager, Z., Eds.; Plenum: New York, 1988.
- (18) Ion and Cluster Spectroscopy and Structure; Maier, J., Ed.; Elsevier Science: New York, 1989. (19) *Atomic and Molecular Clusters*; Bernstein, E. R., Ed.; Elsevier
- Science: New York, 1990.
- (20) Castleman, A. W., Jr. Int. J. Quantum Chem. 1991, 25, 527.
- Clustering Phenomena in Atoms and Nuclei, Brenner, M., Lönnroth, T., Malik, F. B., Eds.; Springer-Verlag: New York, 1992.

- (22) Castleman, A. W., Jr. Advances in Mass Spectrometry, Elsevier Science; New York, 1992; Vol. 12, p 167. See also Int. J. Mass Spectrom. Ion Processes 1992, 118/119, 167.
- (23) Stanley, R. J.; Castleman, A. W., Jr. In *Molecular Dynamics and Spectroscopy by Stimulated Emission Pumping*, Dai, H. L., Field, R. W., Eds.; World Scientific: River Edge, NJ, 1995; p 689.
  (24) Castleman, A. W., Jr.; Wei, S. *Annu. Rev. Phys. Chem.* 1994, 452 (2017)
- 45, 685.
- (25) Chemical Reactions in Clusters; Bernstein, E. R., Ed.; Oxford University Press: Oxford, 1996.
- Anderson, J. B.; Andres, R. P.; Fenn, J. B. Adv. Chem. Phys. **1966**, *10*, 275; Hagena, O. F. Surf. Sci. **1981**, *106*, 101. (26)
- (27)Blades, A. T.; Jayaweera, P.; Ikonomou, M. G.; Kebarle, P. J. Chem. Phys. 1990, 92, 5900.
- Nishi, N.; Yamamoto, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 7353. (28)(29) Orth, R. G; Jonkman, H. T.; Powell, D. H.; Michl, J. J. Am. Chem.
- Soc. 1981, 103, 6026. (30) Hagena O. F. Z. Phys. D. 1987, 4, 291.; Grover J. R.; Walters E.
- A. J. Phys. Chem. 1986, 90, 6201. (31) Amirav, A.; Even, U.; Jortner, J. J. Chem. Phys. 1981, 75, 2489.
- (32) Nesbitt, D. J. Structure and Dynamics of Weakly Bound Com-plexes, Weber, A, Ed.; Reidel: Dordrecht, 1987; p 107.
- (33)
- Wittmeyer, S. A.; Topp, M. R. Chem. Phys. Lett. **1989**, 163, 261. Leutwyler, S.; Bosiger, J. Chem. Rev. **1990**, 90, 489. (34)
- (35) Levandier, D. J.; Mengel, M.; McCombie, J.; Scoles, G. In The Chemical Physics of Atomic and Molecular Clusters; Scoles, G., Ed.; Elsevier Science: New York, 1990; pp 331-358.
- Saykally, R. J.; Blake, G. A. Science 1993, 259, 1570.
- Ohline, S. M.; Romascan, J.; Felker, P. M. J. Phys. Chem. 1995, (37)99, 7311.
- (38) Gruenloh, C.; Carney, J. R.; Hagemeister, F. C.; Arrington, C. A.; Zwier, T. S.; Fredericks, S. Y.; Wood, J. T., III; Jordan, K. D. J. Chem. Phys. 1998, 109, 6601. Ohashi, K.; Nishi, N. J. Chem. Phys. 1998, 109, 3971.
- (39) Mühlbach, J.; Pfau, P.; Sattler, K.; Recknagel, E. Z. Phys. B 1982, 47.233.
- (40) Martin, T. P. J. Chem. Phys. 1984, 81, 4426.
- McHugh, K. M.; Sarkas, H. W.; Eaton, J. G.; Westgate, C. R.; Bowen, K. H. *Z. Phys. D* **1989**, *12*, 3. (41)
- Hunton, D. E.; Hofmann, M.; Lindeman, T. G.; Castleman, A. W., Jr. Chem. Phys. Lett. **1983**, *96*, 328. (42)
- Levinger, N. E.; Ray, M. L.; Alexander, M. L.; Lineberger, W. C. J. Chem. Phys. 1988, 89, 5654. (43)
- Levinger, N. E.; Ray, D.; Murray, Mullin, A. S.; Schulz, C. P.; Lineberger, W. C. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1988**, *89*, 71. (44)
- Chen. Z. Y.; Cogley, C. D.; Hendricks, J. H.; May, B. D.; Castleman, A. W., Jr. J. Chem. Phys. **1990**, *93*, 3215. Ohashi, K.; Inokuchi, Y.; Nishi, N. Chem. Phys. Lett. **1996**, *263*, (45)
- (46)167.
- (47) Ohashi, K.; Nishi, N. J. Chem. Phys. 1998, 109, 3971.
- Choi, H.; Bise, R. T.; Hoops, A. A.; Mordaunt, D. H.; Neumark, D. M. *J. Phys. Chem. A* **2000**, *104*, 2025. (48)
- (49) Echt, O.; Dao, P. D.; Morgan, S.; Castleman, A. W., Jr. J. Chem. Phys. 1985, 82, 4076.
- (50)
- Wei, S.; Tzeng, W. B.; Castleman, A. W., Jr. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 1960.
  Foltin, M.; Walder, G.; Castleman, A. W., Jr.; Märk, T. D. J. Chem. Phys. 1991, 94, 810.
  Foltin, M. Wolder, G. Mohn, S.; Scheien, B.; Castleman, A. W. (51)
- Foltin, M.; Walder, G.; Mohr, S.; Scheier, P.; Castleman, A. W., Jr.; Märk, T. D. *Z. Phys. D* **1991**, *20*, 157. (52)
- Wei, S.; Castleman, A. W., Jr. Int. J. Mass Spectrom. Ion (53)Processes 1994, 131, 233.
- Stanley, R. J.: Castleman, A. W., Jr. J. Chem. Phys. 1990, 92, (54)5770. Štanley, R. J.: Castleman, A. W., Jr. J. Chem. Phys. 1991, 94, 7744
- (55) Pribble, R. N.; Zwier, T. S. Science 1994, 265, 75.
- (56) Baskin, J. S.; Felker, P. M.; Zewail, A. H. J. Chem. Phys. 1986, 84, 4708.
- Felker, P. M. J. Phys. Chem. 1992, 96, 7844.
- (58) Topp, M. R. J. Chim. Phys. PCB 1995, 92, 310.
   (59) Dantus, M.; Rosker, M. J.; Zewail, A. H. J. Chem. Phys. 1987, 87, 2395. Zewail, A. H. Science 1988, 242, 1645.
   (60) Femtochemistry-Ultrafast Dynamics of The Chemical Bond; The Theorem Chemister
- Zewail, A. H., Ed.; World Scientific (20th Century Chemistry Series): River Edge, NJ, Singapore, 1994. Femtosecond Chemistry, Manz, J., Wöste, L., Eds.; VCH Verlagsellschaft: Wein-heim, 1995. Zewail, A. H. J. Phys. Chem. **1996**, 100, 12701.
- (61)Zewail, A. H. J. Phys. Chem. 1993, 97, 12427.
- Wiley, W. C.; Mclaren, I. H. *Rev. Sci. Instrum.* **1955**, *26*, 1150. Mamyrin, B. A.; Karataev, V. I.; Shmikk, D. V.; Zagulin, V. A. (62)(63)Sov. Phys. JETP 1973, 37, 45.
- Shinohara, H.; Nishi, N. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1987, 141, 292. (64)
- Ceyer, S. T.; Tiedemann, P. W.; Mahan, B. H.; Lee, Y. T. J. Chem. (65)Phys. 1979, 70, 14.
- Kaiser, E.; de Vries, J.; Seger, H.; Menzel, C.; Kamke, W.; Hertel, (66)I. V. Z. Phys. D 1991, 20, 193.
- (67)Shinohara, H.; Nishi, N.; Washida, N. J. Chem. Phys. 1985, 83, 1939.

- (68) Stephan, K.; Futrell, J. H.; Peterson, K. I.; Castleman, A. W., Jr.; Eaganer, H. E.; Djuric, N.; Mark, T. D. Int. J. Mass Spectrom. Ion Phys. 1982, 44, 167.
- (69) Misaizu, F.; Houston, P. L.; Nishi, N.; Shinohara, H.; Kondow, T.; Kinoshita, M. *J. Phys. Chem.* **1989**, *93*, 7041
  (70) Misaizu, F.; Houston, P. L.; Nishi, N.; Shinohara, H.; Kondow, T.; Kinoshita, M. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1993**, *98*, 336.
- (71)Wei, S.; Purnell, J.; Buzza, S. A.; Stanley, R. J.; Castleman A. W., Jr. J. Chem. Phys. 1992, 97, 9480.
- (72) Wei, S.; Purnell, J.; Buzza, S. A.; Castleman, A. W., Jr. J. Chem. Phys. 1993, 99, 755.
- Wei, S.; Purnell, J.; Buzza, S. A.; Snyder, E. M.; Castleman, A. (73)W., Jr. In Femtosecond Chemistry, Manz, J., Wöste, L., Eds.; Springer-Verlag: Germany, 1994; p 449.
- (74) Purnell, J.; Wei, S.; Buzza, S. A.; Castleman, A. W., Jr. J. Phys. Chem. 1993, 97, 12530.
- Snyder, E. M.; Purnell, J.; Wei, S.; Buzza, S. A.; Castleman, A. W., Jr. *Chem. Phys.* **1996**, *207*, 355. (75)
- (76) Cao, H.; Evleth, E. M.; Kassab, E. J. Chem. Phys. 1984, 81, 1512.
- Gellene, G. I.; Porter, R. F. J. Phys. Chem. 1984, 88, 6680. (77)
- (78) Kreisle, D.; Echt, O.; Knapp, M.; Recknagel, E.; Leiter, K.; Märk, T. D.; Sáenz, J. J.; Soler, J. M. Phys. Rev. Lett. **1986**, *56*, 1551.
- (79) Bréchignac, C.; Cahuzae, P.; Carlier, F.; de Frutos, M. Phys. Rev. Lett. 1994, 72, 1636.
- (80) Shukla, A. K.; Moore, C.; Stace, A. J. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1984, 109, 324.
- (81) Stace, A. J. Phys. Rev. Lett. 1988, 61, 306.
- Kreisle, D.; Leiter, K.; Echt, O.; Märk, T. D. Z. Phys. D 1986, 3, (82)319
- (83) Scheier, P.; Märk, T. D. J. Chem. Phys. 1987, 86, 3056.
  (84) Lezius, M.; Märk, T. D. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1989, 155, 496.
- (85) Scheier, P.; Stamatovic, A.; Märk, T. D. J. Chem. Phys. 1988, 88, 4289; Scheier, P.; Dunser, B.; Märk, T. D. Phys. Rev. Lett. 1995, 74, 3368.
- (a) Codling, K.; Frasinski, L. J.; Hatherly, P.; Barr, J. R. M. J (86) Phys. B **1987**, 20, L525. (b) Frasinski, L. J.; Codling, K.; Hatherly, P.; Barr, J.; Ross, I. N.; Toner, W. T. Phys. Rev. Lett. 1987, 58, 2424. (c) Frasinski, L. J.; Codling, K.; Hatherly, P. A. Science 1989, 246, 1029.
- (87) Lompré, L. A.; Mainfray, G. In *Multiphoton Processes*; Lambropoulos, P., Smith, S. J., Eds.; Springer-Verlag: Berlin, 1984; n 23.
- Johann, U.; Luk, T. S.; McIntyre, I. A.; McPherson, A.; Schwarzenbach, A. P.; Boyer, K.; Rhodes, C. K. Multiphoton Ionization in Intense Ultraviolet Laser Fields (Proceedings of the Topical Meeting on Short Wavelength Coherent Generation); Attwood, D. T., Bokor, J., Eds.; AIP Conference Proceedings No. 147; AIP: New York, 1986; p 157.
  (a) L'Huillier, A.; Lompré, L. A.; Mainfray, G.; Manus, C. Phys. (88)
- (89) (a) l'Huillier, A.; Lompré, L. A.; Mainfray, G.; Manus, C. Phys. Rev. A 1983, 27, 2503. (b) Luk, T. S.; Johann, U.; Egger, H.; Pummer, H.; Rhodes, C. K. Phys. Rev. A 1985, 32, 214. (c) Boyer, K.; Luk, T. S.; Solem, J. C.; Řhodes, C. K. *Phys. Rev. A* **1989**, *39*, 1186. (d) Cornaggia, C.; Lavancier, J.; Normand, D.; Morellec, J.; Liu, H. X. *Phys. Rev. A* **1990**, *42*, 5464.
- (90) (a) Codling, K.; Frasinski, L. J.; Hatherly, P. A. J. Phys. B 1988, 21, L433. (b) Hatherly, P. A.; Frasinski, L. J.; Codling, K.; Langley, A. J.; Shaikh, W. *J. Phys. B* **1990**, *23*, L291. (c) Lavancier, J.; Normand, D.; Cornaggia, C.; Morellec, J.; Liu, H. X. Phys. Rev. A **1991**, 43, 1461. (d) Normand, D.; Cornaggia, C.; Lavancier, J.; Morellec, J.; Liu, H. X. Phys. Rev. A **1991**, 44, 475.
- (91) (a) Snyder, E. M.; Wei, S.; Purnell, J.; Buzza, S. A.; Castleman, A. W., Jr. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1996, 248, 1. (b) Purnell, J.; Snyder, E. M.; Wei, S.; Castleman, A. W., Jr. *Chem. Phys. Lett.* **1994**, 229, 333. (c) Snyder, E. M.; Buzza, S. A.; Castleman, Jr., A. W. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1996**, 77, 3347.
- Phys. Rev. Lett. 1996, 77, 3347.
  (92) (a) Ditmire, T.; Zweiback, J.; Yanovsky, V. P.; Cowan, T. E.; Hays, G.; Wharton, K. B. Nature 1999, 398, 489. (b) Ditmire, T.; Springate, E.; Tisch, J. W. G.; Shao, Y. L.; Mason, M. B.; Hay, N.; Marangos, J. P.; Hutchinson, M. H. R. Phys. Rev. A 1998, 57, 369. (c) Ditmire, T.; Tisch, J. W. G.; Springate, E.; Mason, M. B.; Hay, N.; Smith, R. A.; Marangos, J. P.; Hutchinson, M. H. P. Natura 1997, 386, 54
- (93) Ford, J. V.; Zhong, Q.; Poth, L.; Castleman, A. W., Jr. J. Chem. Phys. **1999**, *110*, 6257–6267. Ford, J. V.; Poth, L.; Zhong, Q.; Castleman, A. W., Jr. Int. J. Mass Spectrom. Ion Processes 1999, 192, 327.
- (a) McPherson, A.; Luk, T. S.; Thompson, B. D.; Boyer, K.; (94)Rhodes, C. K. *Appl. Phys. B* **1993**, *57*, 337. (b) McPherson, A.; Luk, T. S.; Thompson, B. D.; Borisov, A. B.; Shiryaev, O. B.; Chen, X.; Boyer, K.; Rhodes, C. K. Phys. Rev. Lett. 1994, 72, 1810. (c) McPherson, A.; Thompson, B. D.; Borisov, A. B.; Boyer, K.; Rhodes, C. K Nature 1994, 370, 631. (d) Boyer, K.; Thompson, B. D.; McPherson, A.; Rhodes, C. K. J. Phys. B: At. Mol. Opt. Phys. 1994, 27, 4373.
- (95) Zuo, T.; Chelkowski, S.; Bandrauk, A. D. Phys. Rev. A 1993, 48, 3837
- (96)Chelkowski, S.; Bandrauk, A. D. J. Phys. B: At. Mol. Opt. Phys. 1995. 28. L723.

- (97) Zuo, T.; Bandrauk, A. D. Phys. Rev. A 1995, 51, 26. Zuo, T.; Bandrauk, A. D. Phys. Rev. A 1995, 52, R2511.
- (98) Chelkowski, S.; Zuo, T.; Atabek, O.; Bandrauk, A. D. Phys. Rev. A 1995, 52, 2977.
- (99) Chelkowski, S.; Zuo, T.; Bandrauk, A. D. Phys. Rev. A 1995, 54, 3235.
- Yu, H.; Bandrauk, A. D. *Phys. Rev. A* **1997**, *56*, 685. Yu, H.; Bandrauk, A. D. *J. Phys. B: At. Mol. Opt. Phys.* **1998**, (100)
- (101)31. 1533
- Stapelfeldt, H.; Constant, E.; Corkum, P. B. Phys. Rev. Lett. 1995, 74, 3780. (102)
- (103)Seideman, T.; Ivanov, M. Y.; Corkum, P. B. Phys. Rev. Lett 1995, 75, 2819.
- (104) Constant, W.; Stapelfeldt, H.; Corkum, P. B. Phys. Rev. Lett. 1996, 76, 4140.
- Last, I.; Schek, I.; Jortner, J. J. Chem. Phys. **1997**, 107, 6685. Last, I.; Jortner, J. Phys. Rev. A **1998**, 58, 3826. (105)
- (106)(107)Card, D. A.; Folmer, D. E.; Sato, S.; Buzza, S. A.; Castleman, A. W., Jr. J. Phys. Chem. 1997, 101, 3417.
- Goodman, J. W. Statistical Optics; John Wiley & Sons: New (108)York, 1985; p 17
- (109) Rose-Petruck, C.; Schafer, K. J.; Barty, C. P. J. Proc. SPIE Int.
- *Soc. Opt. Eng.* **1995**, *2523*, 272. Folmer, D. E.; Wisniewski, E. S.; Hurley, S. M.; Castleman, A. (110)W., Jr. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1999, 96, 12980.
- (111) (a.) Folmer, D. E.; Poth, L.; Wisniewski, E. S.; Castleman, A. W., Jr. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1998, 287, 1. (b.) Folmer, D. E. Wisniewski, E. S.; Castleman, A. W., Jr. Chem Phys. Lett. 2000, *318*, 637.
- (112) Poth, L.; Castleman, A. W., Jr. J. Phys. Chem. A 1998, 102, 4075.
  (113) Breen, J. J.; Peng, L. W.; Willberg, D. M.; Heikal A.; Cong, P.; Zewail, A. H. J. Chem. Phys. 1990, 92, 805.
- (a) Knee, J. L.; Khundkar, L. R.; Zewail, A. H. J. Chem. Phys. **1987**, 87, 115. (b) Heikal, A. A.; Chong, S. H.; Baskin, J. S.; Zewail, A. H. Chem. Phys. Lett. **1995**, 242, 380. (114)
- (115) Steadman, J.; Syage, J. A. J. Chem. Phys. 1990, 92, 4630.
- Syage, J. A. In Femtosecond Chemistry, Manz, J., Wöste, L., Eds.; (116)Springer-Verlag: Germany, 1994; p 475.
- (117) Kosower, E. M.; Huppert, D. Annu. Rev. Phys. Chem. 1986, 37, 127.
- (118) Lee, J.; Griffin, R. D.; Robinson, G. W. J. Chem. Phys. 1985, 82, 4920.
- (119) Pines, E.; Huppert, D.; Agmon, N. J. Chem. Phys. 1988, 88, 5620.; Agmon, N.; Huppert, D.; Pines, E. J. Chem. Phys. 1988, *88*, 5631
- (120)Smith, T. P.; Zakikia, K. Z.; Thakur, K.; Barbara, P. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1991**, *113*, 4035. (121) Brucker, G. A.; Kelley, D. F. J. Chem. Phys. **1989**, *90*, 5234.
- [122] Brucker, G. A.; Kelley, D. F. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1989, 136, 213.
   (123) Syage, J. A.; Steadman, J. J. Chem. Phys. 1991, 95, 2497.
- (124) Kim, S. K.; Wang, J.-K.; Zewail, A. H. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1994, 228, 369.

- (125) Syage, J. A. J. Phys. Chem. 1995, 99, 5772.
  (126) Kim, S. K.; Breen, J. J.; Willberg, D. M.; Peng, L. W.; Heikal, A.; Sayage, J. A.; Zewail, A. H. J. Phys. Chem. 1995, 99, 7421.
  (127) Knochemnuss, R.; Holtom, G. R.; Ray, D. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1993, 425, 199 215, 188.
- (128) Syage, J. A. Z. Phys. D 1994, 30, 1.
  (129) Runau, R.; Peyerimhoff, S. D.; Beunker, R. J. J. Mol. Spectrosc. 1977, 68, 253
- (130)Stanley, R. J.; Echt, O.; Castleman, A. W., Jr. Appl. Phys. B. 1983. 32. 35
- Conaway, W. E.; Ebata, T.; Zare, R. N. J. Chem. Phys. 1987, (131)87.3453
- (132) Dobber, M. R.; Buma, W. J.; de Lange, C. A. J. Phys. Chem. 1995, 99, 1671
- (133) Nelson, D. D., Jr.; Fraser, G. T.; Klemperer, W. Science 1987, 238, 1670.
- (134) Snyder, E. M.; Castleman, A. W., Jr. J. Chem. Phys. 1997, 107, 744.
- (135) Freudenberg, T.; Radloff, W.; Ritze, H.-H.; Stert, V.; Weyers, K.; Noack, F.; Hertel, I. V. Z. Phys. D **1996**, *36*, 349.
  (136) Farmanara, P.; Radloff, W.; Stert, V.; Ritze, H.-H.; Hertel, I. V.
- J. Chem. Phys. 1999, 111, 633.
- (137) Stert, V.; Radloff, W.; Freudenberg, T.; Noack, F.; Hertel, I. V.; Jouvet, C.; Dedonder-Lardeux, C.; Solgadi, D. Europhys. Lett. 1997, 40, 515.
- Taylor, C. A.; El Bayoumi, M. A.; Kasha, M. Proc. Natl. Acad. (138) Sci. U.S.A. 1969, 63, 253.
- (139) Fuke, K.; Yoshiuchi, H.; Kaya, K. J. Phys. Chem. 1984, 88, 5840.
   (140) Fuke, K.; Kaya, K. J. Phys. Chem. 1989, 93, 614.
- (140) Fuke, K., Raya, K. S. Phys. Chem. 1965, 55, 614.
   (141) Nakajima, A.; Ono, F.; Kihara, Y.; Ogawa, A.; Matsurbara, K.; Ishikawa, K.; Baba, M.; Kaya, K. *Laser Chem.* 1995, *15*, 167.
   (142) Nakajima, A.; Hirano, M.; Hasumi, R.; Kaya, K.; Watanabe, H.; Carter, C. C.; Williamson, J. M.; Miller, T. *J. Phys. Chem.* 1997,
- 101. 392
- (143) Douhal, A.; Kim, S. K.; Zewail, A. H. Nature 1995, 378, 260.
- (144) Takeuchi, S.; Tahara, T. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1997, 277, 340.
   Takeuchi, S.; Tahara, T. J. Phys. Chem. A 1998, 102, 7740.

- (145) Chachisvilis, M.; Fiebig, T.; Douhal, A.; Zewail, A. H. J. Phys. Chem A 1998, 102, 669.
- Share, P.; Pereira, M.; Sarisky, M.; Repinec, S.; Hochstrasser, (146)R. M. J. Lumin. 1991, 48/49, 204.
- (147) Hobza, P. Private communication.
- (148) Femtochemistry and Femtobiology; Sunsström, V., Ed.; Imperial College Press: London, 1996,
- (149) Fox, M. A.; Barton, J. K. *Science* 1999, *283*, 375.
  (150) Castleman, A. W., Jr.; Zhong, Q.; Hurley, S. M. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 1999, *96*, 4219.
- (151) Benesi, H. A.; Hildebrand, J. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1949, 71, 2703
- (152) Mulliken, R. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1950, 72, 610.
- (153) Cheng, P. Y.; Zhong, D.; Zewail, A. H. J. Chem. Phys. 1996, 105, 6216.
- (154) Zhong, D.; Zewail, A. H. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1999, 96, 2602
- (155)Cheng, P. Y.; Zhong, D.; Zewail, A. H. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1995, 242, 369.
- (156) DeBoer, G.; Burnett, J. W.; Fujimoto, A.; Young, M. A. J. Phys. Chem. 1996, 100, 14882
- (157)Su, J. T.; Zewail, A. H. J. Phys. Chem. A 1998, 102, 4082.
- (158) Fredin, L.; Nelander, B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1974, 96, 1672.
- (159)Langhoff, C. A.; Gnädig, K.; Eisenthal, K. B. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1980, 46, 117.
- (160) Hilinski, E. F.; Rentzepis, P. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 5907.
- (161) Lenderink, E.; Duppen, K.; Wiersma, D. A. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1993, 211, 503.
- (162) Pullen, S.; Walker, L. A., II; Sension, R. J. J. Chem. Phys. 1995, 103. 7877
- (163) Lenderink, E.; Duppen, K.; Everdij, F. P. X.; Mavri, J.; Torre, R.; Wiersma, D. A. *J. Phys. Chem.* **1996**, *100*, 7822. (164) Rose, T. S.; Rosker, M. J.; Zewail, A. H. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1988**,
- 88. 6672
- (165) Bacic, Z.; Miller, R. E. J. Phys. Chem. A 1996, 100, 12945. (166) Gerber, R. B.; Maccoy, A. B.; Garcia-Vela, A. Annu. Rev. Phys. Chem. 1994, 45, 275.
- (167) Wöste, L. Z. Phys. Chem. 1996, 196, 1
- (168) Valentini, J. J.; Cross, J. B. J. Chem. Phys. 1982, 77, 572.
- (169) Potter, E. D.; Liu, Q.; Zewail, A. H. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1992, 200, 605
- (170) Liu, Q.; Wang, J.-K.; Zewail, A. H. Nature 1993, 364, 427.
- Wang, J.-K.; Liu, Q.; Zewail, A. H. J. Phys. Chem. 1995, 99, 11309. (171)

- (172) Lienau, C.; Zewail, A. H. J. Phys. Chem. 1996, 100, 18629.
- (173) Liu, Q.; Wang, J.-K.; Zewail, A. H. J. Phys. Chem. 1995, 99, 11321.
- (174) Zadoyan, R.; Li, Z.; Ashjian, P.; Martens, C. C.; Apkarian, V. A. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1994, 218, 504.
- (175) Apkarian, V. A. J. Chem. Phys. 1994, 101, 6648.
- (176) Martens, C. C. J. Phys. Chem. 1995, 99, 7453.
- (177) Poth, L.; Zhong, Q.; Ford, J. V.; Castleman, A. W., Jr. J. Chem. Phys. 1998, 109, 4791.
- Zhong; D.; Cheng, P. Y.; Zewail, A. H. J. Chem. Phys. 1996, 105, (178)7864 (179) Donaldson, D. J.; Child, M. S.; Vaida, V. J. Chem. Phys. 1988,
- 88, 7410. (180) Donaldson, D. J.; Vaida, V.; Naaman, R. J. Chem. Phys. 1987,
- 87, 2522 (181) Vaida, V.; Donaldson, D. J.; Sapers, S. P.; Naaman, R.; Child,
- M. S. J. Phys. Chem. 1989, 93, 513. (182) Greenblatt, B. J.; Zanni, M. T.; Neumark, D. M. Science 1997,
- 276, 1675.
- (183) Sanov, A.; Sanford, T.; Nandi, S.; Lineberger, W. C. J. Chem. Phys. 1999, 111, 664.
- (184) Delaney, N.; Faeder, J.; Maslen, P. E.; Parson, R. J. Phys. Chem. A **1999**, *101*, 8147.
- (185) Delaney, N.; Faeder, J.; Parson, R. J. Chem. Phys. 1999, 111, 651.
- (186) Greenblatt, B. J.; Zanni, M. T.; Neumark, D. M. Faraday Discuss. 1997, 108, 101.
- (187) Alexander, M. L.; Levinger, N. E.; Johnson, M. A.; Ray, D., Lineberger, W. C. J. Chem. Phys. 1988, 88, 6200; Ray, D.; Levinger, N. E.; Papanikolas, J. M.; Lineberger, W. C. J. Chem. Phys. 1989, 91, 6533.
- (188) Baumert, T.; Thalwerser, R.; Weiss, V.; Gerber, G. Femtosecond Chemistry; Manz, J., Wöste, L., Eds.; VCH-Verlag: Weinheim, 1995; Vol. 2, p 397.
- Wolf, S.; Sommerer, G.; Rutz, S.; Schreiber, E.; Leisner, T.; (189)Woste, L.; Berry, R. S. Phys. Rev. Lett. 1995, 74, 4177.
- (190) Boo, D. W.; Ozaki, Y.; Lineberger, W. C. J. Phys. Chem. 1997, 101, 6688.
- Schreiber, E. Femtosecond Real-Time Spectroscopy of Small (191)Molecules and Clusters; Springer-Verlag: Berlin, Heidelberg, 1998.

CR990056F